ACTA UNIVERSITATIS AGRICULTURAE SUECIAE

SILVESTRIA 125



Growth Rhythm and Frost Hardiness Dynamics in Norway Spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.)

Johan Westin

SWEDISH UNIVERSITY OF AGRICULTURAL SCIENCES



Growth rhythm and frost hardiness dynamics in Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.)

Johan Westin

Akademisk avhandling som för vinnande av skoglig doktorsexamen kommer att offentligen försvaras i hörsal Björken, SLU, Umeå, fredagen den 14 januari, 2000, kl.13 00.

Abstract

The seasonal growth rhythm and frost hardiness development of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.) in Northern Sweden were characterised in trees from local seed sources and transferred seed sources of natural and selected origins. The main aim was to clarify whether the growth performance of selected populations of local origin had a similar physiological basis to the growth performance of southern natural populations.

Populations of southern origins tended to initiate growth and dehardening later in spring, and start growth cessation and hardening later in autumn, than populations of orthern origins. Populations transferred more than approximately 3° in latitude showed poor growth performances due to lower numbers of stem-units. Southern populations showed prolonged apical mitotic activity compared with those of northern and local origins.

Progenies of selected plus-trees showed a later start of growth and slightly later dehardening in spring. Growth cessation occurred later in juvenile seedlings of selected populations than in natural populations of similar origin. Furthermore, in non-juvenile trees of selected populations prolonged mitotic activity was observed. Needle frost hardiness levels in selected populations were similar to those of natural populations of similar origin. Selected populations of northern origins tended to produce more stem-units than natural populations of similar origin.

Throughout the studies, variation in duration of mitotic activity appeared to be unrelated to the number of stem-units produced. This was evident both among populations and among clones of similar origins. Furthermore, variation in the ability to produce stem-units could not explain variation in accumulated height growth among natural populations. Growth and hardiness performances of southern populations and of selected populations of local origin appeared, at least in part, to have a similar physiological basis i.e. delayed spring and autumn phenology.

Key words: buds, frost hardiness, growth, mitotic activity, needles, Norway spruce, *Picea abies*, stem-units

Distribution: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology SE-901 83 Umeå, Sweden Umeå 1999 ISSN 1401-6230 ISBN 91-576-5859-5

Growth Rhythm and Frost Hardiness Dynamics in Norway Spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.)

Johan Westin

Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology Umeå

Doctoral thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Umeå 2000

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae

Silvestria 125

ISSN 1401-6230 ISBN 91-576-5859-5 © 1999 Johan Westin, Umeå Printed by: SLU, Grafiska Enheten, Umeå, Sweden, 1999

Abstract

Westin, J. 2000. *Growth rhythm and frost hardiness dynamics in Norway spruce* (Picea abies (*L.*) Karst.). Doctor's dissertation. ISSN 1401-6230, ISBN 91-576-5859-5

The seasonal growth rhythm and frost hardiness development of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.) in Northern Sweden were characterised in trees from local seed sources and transferred seed sources of natural and selected origins. The main aim was to clarify whether the growth performance of selected populations of local origin had a similar physiological basis to the growth performance of southern natural populations.

Populations of southern origins tended to initiate growth and dehardening later in spring, and start growth cessation and hardening later in autumn, than populations of northern origins. Populations transferred more than approximately 3° in latitude showed poor growth performances due to lower numbers of stem-units. Southern populations showed prolonged apical mitotic activity compared with those of northern and local origins.

Progenies of selected plus-trees showed a later start of growth and slightly later dehardening in spring. Growth cessation occurred later in juvenile seedlings of selected populations than in natural populations of similar origin. Furthermore, in non-juvenile trees of selected populations prolonged mitotic activity was observed. Needle frost hardiness levels in selected populations were similar to those of natural populations of similar origin. Selected populations of northern origins tended to produce more stem-units than natural populations of similar origin.

Throughout the studies, variation in duration of mitotic activity appeared to be unrelated to the number of stem-units produced. This was evident both among populations and among clones of similar origins. Furthermore, variation in the ability to produce stem-units could not explain variation in accumulated height growth among natural populations. Growth and hardiness performances of southern populations and of selected populations of local origin appeared, at least in part, to have a similar physiological basis i.e. delayed spring and autumn phenology.

Key words: buds, frost hardiness, growth, mitotic activity, needles, Norway spruce, *Picea abies*, stem-units

Author's address: Johan Westin, SkogForsk, Box 3, SE-918 21 Sävar, Sweden.

Terminology

- Acclimation Morphological and physiological adjustment by individual plants to compensate for the decline in performance following exposure to unfavourable levels of one environmental factor (Lambers et al.1998)
- Adaptation Genetically determined trait that enhances the performance of an individual in a specific environment (Lambers et al.1998)
- Apical meristem Meristem at the apex of an embryonic shoot. Commonly divided into four cytohistological zones; the peripheral zone, the apical initial zone at the summit of the apex, the central mother cells zone below the apical initials and the rib meristem zone further below.
- Cell cycle Sequence of events that includes a period of DNA synthesis (S), preceded by the first gap phase (G1) and followed by the second gap phase (G2), and mitosis (M) (Steeves & Sussex 1989).
- Crown The living tissue situated below the embryonic shoot consisting of cell with irregularly thickened non-lignified cell walls with many tannin filled pits (Romberger 1963, Venn 1965, Hejnowicz & Obarska 1995). Also called "nodal diaphragm".
- Dormancy The condition in which no cell divisions occur in meristematic tissues (Romberger 1963, Owens 1968).
- Differentiation The changes that occur in cells and groups of cells, and bring about their distinctiveness (Steeves & Sussex, 1989).
- Early test Evaluation of a juvenile trait in order to predict a mature trait.

ExtracellularIce formation on the surface of the cell or between the proto-
plast and the cell wall (Sakai & Larcher 1987).

Extraorgan freezing Ice segregation from a supercooled organ to a specific space outside, resulting in dehydration of the organ (Sakai & Larcher 1987).

| Free growth | Initiation and elongation of shoot primordia in young seedlings without a period of dormancy in between. Sylleptic free growth starts immediately after predetermined growth and proleptic free growth starts after a temporary bud has been set (Wühlisch & Muhs 1986). |
|---------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Freezing avoid- ance | The ability of living cells to prevent (avoid) the establishment of thermodynamic equilibrium with the frost stress (Levitt 1980) |
| Freezing injury | Damage connected with ice formation in plant tissues (Sakai & Larcher 1987) |
| Freezing point | The temperature at which a liquid becomes a solid (Encyclo- pædia Britannica 1992) |
| Freezing resis- tance | The ability of cells to survive frost by means of avoidance or tolerance of ice formation in plant tissues (Levitt 1980) |
| Freezing tolerance | The ability of living cells to resist internal freezing stress with- out suffering injury (Levitt 1980) |
| Frost hardiness | Physiological condition that allows exposure to subzero tem- peratures without cellular damage (Lambers et al. 1998) |
| Growth | Irreversible increase in size accomplished by a combination of cell division and cell enlargement (Steeves & Sussex, 1989). |
| Intercalary meris- tem | Growth zone at the base of an elongating internode (or equiva- lent) that may function as a persistent isolated meristem bounded both above and below by mature tissues (Steeves & Sussex, 1989). |
| Intracellular freezing | Ice formation within the protoplast (protoplasm, vacuole) (Sa- kai & Larcher 1987). |
| Juvenile shoot growth | Shoot growth occurs in the way of free and predetermined growth (Wuehlish & Muhs 1991) |

- Meristem Region of cells capable of division and growth in plants (Encyclopædia Britannica 1992)
- Mitosis A process of cell duplication, or reproduction, during which one cell gives rise to two genetically identical daughter cells. Mitosis is often subdivided into four phases: prophase, metaphase, anaphase and telophase. (Encyclopædia Britannica 1992)

Mitotic Index (MI) The percentage of nuclei in mitosis (Clowes 1960).

- Natural population Progenies of open-pollinated trees where the trees have been randomly selected in an autochthonous natural stand. (Similar to the "ecotype"-term defined by Lambers et al.(1998).)
- NSU Number of stem units (Bongarten 1985).
- Pith rib-meristem Meristem along the shoot axis of the elongating embryonic shoot, previously formed by the rib-meristem of the apical meristem, which results in elongation of stem-units.
- Plus-tree An individual tree phenotypically selected for its superior accumulated height growth compared to reference trees in the same stand.
- Population Provenance, ecotype or group of plus-trees with a defined origin
- Predetermined Elongation of stem and needle primordia that were initiated during the previous year (Pollard & Logan 1974)
- Seed orchard Clonal composition of vegetatively propagated plus-trees established at a certain location in order to produce genetically improved seed of high quality.
- Selected popula- Progenies of open-pollinated plus-trees established in a seed orchard.
- Stem-unit Needle + internode (Doak 1935)
- Supercooling The cooling of a liquid below its freezing point without freezing taking place (Sakai & Larcher 1987).

Contents

| INTRODUCTION | 9 |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------|------|
| Seed sources, growth rhythm and frost hardiness | 9 |
| Shoot growth in conifers | |
| Free growth and predetermined shoot growth | |
| Shoot meristems | |
| Comparisons with the vascular cambium | 13 |
| Production of cells | 13 |
| Freezing resistance in conifers | .14 |
| The freezing process | 14 |
| Freezing injuries | |
| Seasonal variation in growth rhythm and frost hardiness in conifers | .16 |
| Adaptation and acclimation to climate | 16 |
| Variation in initiation and cessation of growth | 17 |
| Variation in levels of frost hardiness | |
| Early testing of growth and frost hardiness | . 18 |
| Testing of frost hardiness | . 19 |
| AIM OF THE STUDY | . 19 |
| RESULTS AND DISCUSSION | . 20 |
| Spring | .20 |
| Initiation of growth | |
| Dehardening | 22 |
| Conclusions regarding spring events | 23 |
| Autumn | .23 |
| Cessation of growth | 23 |
| Hardening | |
| Conclusions regarding autumn events | 27 |
| Validity of results and potential sources of error | . 27 |
| CONCLUDING REMARKS | 28 |
| PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS | . 29 |
| REFERENCES | 30 |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | . 37 |
| | |

Appendix

The thesis is based on studies reported in the following articles, which are referred to in the text by the corresponding Roman numerals.

- I. Westin, J., Sundblad, L.-G. and Hällgren, J.-E. 1995. Seasonal variation in photochemical activity and hardiness in clones of Norway spruce, *Picea abies* L. Tree Physiol. 15: 685-689.
- II. Westin, J., Sundblad, L.-G., Strand, M. and Hällgren, J.-E. 1999. Apical mitotic activity and growth in clones of Norway spruce in relation to cold hardiness. Can. J. For. Res. 29: 40-46.
- III. Westin, J., Sundblad, L.-G., Strand, M. and Hällgren, J.-E. 2000. Phenotypic differences between natural and selected populations of *Picea abies* I. Frost hardiness. Scand. J. For. Res. (Accepted)
- IV. Westin, J., Sundblad, L.-G., Strand, M. and Hällgren, J.-E. 2000. Phenotypic differences between natural and selected populations of *Picea abies II*. Apical mitotic activity and growth related parameters. Scand. J. For. Res. (Accepted)
- V. Hannerz, H. and Westin, J. 2000. Growth cessation and autumn frost hardiness in one-year-old *Picea abies* progenies from seed orchards and natural stands. Scand. J. For. Res. (Accepted)

All articles are reproduced with due permission from the publishers.

Introduction

Seed sources, growth rhythm and frost hardiness

Growth rhythm and frost hardiness dynamics are important traits, with a strong influence on growth performance in boreal climates. Through the on-going process of adaptation, many tree species have developed natural populations that show enhanced fitness under specific environmental conditions. In Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.) the origin of the seed source is known to influence various aspects of growth rhythm and development of frost hardiness. Therefore, in artificial reforestation the origin of the seed source may influence growth.

There are three types of seed source origin for Norway spruce. They may be: 1. local seed sources collected from trees with similar origins to the planting site, 2. transferred seed sources collected from trees of a different origin than the site (i.e. differing in latitude or altitude), 3. seed sources from clonal seed orchards composed of plus-trees, selected for superior height performance. The third alternative may be subdivided into specific seed sources produced on trees that have been transferred to environments more or less different from the original environment.

Transferred natural stand seed of Norway spruce and seed produced in seed orchards are commonly used in Swedish forestry. In Sweden transferred natural stand seed has been used on a large scale since the 1950's and seed orchard seed from the 1960's. The use of seed from non-local sources is motivated not just by seed quality considerations, but also by its potential to establish highly productive stands (Anon. 1993).

The migration history of Norway spruce after the latest glaciation involves a northward migration of spruce, from refuges in Central and Eastern Europe, to northern Fennoscandia (Schmidt-Vogt 1977). Further migration in Scandinavia occurred mainly from north to south. It is commonly stated that the migration pattern of spruce in Fennoscandia has affected growth rhythm and hardiness and that the present clines in these characters are remnants of the migration history.

When natural Norway spruce populations with different seed origins are evaluated at a set location, seed sources transferred northward show increased height growth (Worrall 1975, Skrøppa and Magnussen 1993), and later flushing (Worrall 1975) with similar survival rates (Rosvall & Eriksson 1981) compared with populations of local origin. Similarly, progeny of selected plus-trees tend to show higher growth potential (Johnsen 1989. Skrøppa & Johnsen 1999. Karlsson 1999) with the same survival rates as compared with local seed sources.

The main objective with of the work reported in this thesis was to study the seasonal rhythm of growth and hardiness in order to characterise the dynamics of growth and hardiness in local, transferred and selected seed sources.

Shoot growth in conifers

Free growth and predetermined shoot growth

Shoot growth can be either predetermined or free. In the genera Picea, one-year old seedlings display only free sylleptic shoot growth, whereas older seedlings can show predetermined shoot growth and various amounts of free shoot growth (sylleptic or proleptic) (Wuehlish & Muhs 1986). The ability to display free growth is a juvenile feature that gradually decreases as the plant becomes older (Pollard et al.1975). Free growth can be regarded as an independent contribution to juvenile height growth which will be lost with age (Pollard & Logan 1974) or as precocious height growth that will be replaced by predetemined growth of a similar magnitude with age (Cannell & Johnstone 1978, Ununger & Kang 1988). Free growth and predetermined growth appear to be two forms of shoot growth that are well integrated and are not inherited independently of each other (Wuehlish & Muhs 1991).

The amount of free growth is strongly influenced by environmental conditions, especially short-days (Dormling 1968) and fertilisation (Wuehlish & Muhs 1991). Free growth is not influenced by the amount of preceding predetermined growth, but it has positive effects on the following predetermined growth as well as on the initiation of needle primordia (Ununger & Kang 1988, Wuehlish & Muhs 1991). Free growth is also influenced by genetic origin, as some provenances have a higher potential for free growth on favourable sites than other provenances (Pollard & Logan 1974, Cannell & Johnstone 1978, Wuehlish & Muhs 1991).

Shoot meristems

Shoot anatomy and bud morphology of most genera, and many species within the Pinaceae, have been thoroughly described and show strong similarities. A common zonation pattern exists within the apex although differences occur in the absolute size of the apex and the relative size of the cytological zones between individuals and species (Burley 1966). In the genera *Picea* and *Abies* a crown exists in the anatomy of the buds (Parke 1959, Romberger 1963), which appears to be a feature of some importance in the process of extra-organ freezing.

The initiation and development of primordia in the apical meristem have previously been described in *Pseudotsuga menziesii* by Owens (1968), in *Picea glauca* by Owens et al. (1977) and in *Picea abies* by Hejnowicz & Obarska (1995). Generally, budscales and needle primordia are initiated in the peripheral zone of the apical meristem. A change from bud-scale initiation to needle initiation occurs at the completion of shoot elongation. The initiated primordia enlarge, after an initial period of division in all planes, through divisions in an intercalary meristem and by cell enlargements throughout the primordia. The number and shape of all foliar organs initiated in buds of mature trees can generally be determined before dormancy.



Fig. 1. Embryonic lateral shoot of *Picea abies* (origin 60°35'N) collected in a field test at Sävar (63°54'N, 20°33'E, alt. 10 m) on June 2, 1997. At the top is the apex, in the middle are elongating preformed needles and the pith ribmeristem, and below these is the crown. The vertical line indicates 1 mm. (Courtesy P. Hörstedt, Dept. of Pathology, Univ. of Umeå, Swe den).

After dormancy the bud scales generally undergo no noticeable enlargement, but the needle primordia begin to mature at different times and at different rates. Maturation occurs basipetally and starts before the needles are fully elongated, simultaneously with divisions in the intercalary meristem. Maturation of needles continues throughout the entire growing season and is promoted by warm temperatures. The degree of maturation of needles affects various features, for example, the thickness of the needle cuticle, which may increase the ability of the needle to withstand drought stress in winter (Tranquillini 1979, Vanhinsberg & Colombo 1989).

Fig. 2. Apex of a terminal lateral shoot



in *Picea abies* (Clone 115, origin 63°N) collected in a field test at Sävar (63°54'N, 20°33'E, alt. 10 m) in November 1995. (Courtesy P. Hörstedt, Dept. of Pathology, Univ. of Umeå, Sweden).

The developmental stages as indicated by the morphological development before and after dormancy, are not definite. For instance, in mature trees of *Picea abies*, bud scales may be initiated both in late autumn and in spring (Hejnowicz & Obarska 1995). In one-year old seedlings of *Picea sitchensis*, with delayed bud development in autumn, a small number of needle primordia may also be initiated during the first part of the elongation phase in spring (Burley 1966).

Furthermore, developed organs

may be transformed, as bud scale primordia may elongate to from broad and flat needle-like structures during the change from sylleptic to proleptic free growth with increasing age (Wuehlish & Muhs 1986).

All initiated needle primordia are attached to the pith rib-meristem, through the peripheral zone, along the axis of the embryonic shoot. The role of cell division and cell elongation in lateral shoot elongation have previously been described in Pseudotsuga menziesii (Owens et al.1985) and in Picea engelmannii (Owens & Simpson 1988). Generally, the preformed undifferentiated pith cells in the pith ribmeristem start to divide and elongate after dormancy. Early shoot elongation before flushing results from a rapid increase in mitotic activity in the pith rib-meristem, whereas late shoot elongation after flushing results from cell elongation. Shoot elongation as a whole results in increased mean stemunit length. In Picea engelmannii, elongation of the original pith cells has been found to account for less than 15% of the final lateral shoot length. The remaining increase in shoot length was due to cell divisions and similar elongation in the length of the resulting daughter cells. Considering the overall similarities in shoot anatomy within the Pinaceae, the original pith cells and daughter cells seem likely to make similar relative contributions to final shoot length in Picea abies.



Fig. 3 a-c. Embryonic leader shoots of *Picea abies* (origin 63°N) collected in a field test at Sävar (63°54'N, 20°33'E, alt. 10 m) on August 28 (top), September 30 (middle) and October 23 (below) in 1998. The horizontal lines indicate 1 mm. (Courtesy P. Hörstedt, Dept. of Pathology, Univ. of Umeå,, Sweden)

Comparisons with the vascular cambium

The cells in the vascular cambium in conifers divide and differentiate into xylem and phloem. Initiation of cambial cell division in spring and its cessation in autumn are brought about both by internal chemical factors and external conditions (Savidge & Wareing 1981, Mellerowicz et al. 1992). In spring, cambial cell division appears to start in the living crown before or around bud-break (Savidge & Wareing 1984, Oribe et al. 1993). From the living crown, cell division appears to proceed both basipetally down the stem and acropetally to younger cambia (Savidge & Wareing 1984, Oribe et al. 1993). The pattern of cell division activity may reflect both internal and external factors. In many conifers, temperature is suggested to be a limiting external factor for cell division in spring, at least in older cambia (Savidge & Wareing 1981. Mellerowicz et al. 1992), whereas short photoperiods induce cessation of cambial activity in autumn (Mellerowicz et al. 1992). Indole-3-acetic-acid (IAA) appears to be a controlling internal factor for cambial growth, and is required by the vascular cambium for cambial cell division, radial enlargement and tracheary differentiation (Savidge & Wareing 1981, Little & Savidge 1987). Recent research has demonstrated that the supply of IAA polarly transported to the cambial tissues, and the resulting concentration and distribution pattern of IAA across these tissues is important in the control of cambial growth (Uggla et al. 1998, Sundberg et al. 2000).

Production of cells

Cell division in plants takes place in meristems, where cells pass through and between the different stages of the mitotic cell cycle. After cytokinesis, the cell passes through G1 and at a specific point late in G1, the fate of the cell is decided form one of four fates; to divide, arrest, differentiate, or senesce (Jacobs 1995). In addition to the decision point, checkpoints exist between the different phases where the conditions are checked before the cell cycle proceeds. Specific regulators control the checkpoints and the presence of these regulators in nondividing plant cells may confer upon them mitotic competence. The developmental plasticity of plants suggests that an intermediate, developmentally metastable phase (G0), between proliferation and terminal differentiation. may exist in vegetative plant cells (Jacobs 1995).

The number of cells produced in a meristem during a year is dependent on four cell cycle parameters: the frequency of cells undergoing mitosis, the rate of cell division, the size of the meristem, and the duration of cell cycle activity.

The frequency of cells undergoing mitosis, as expressed by the Mitotic Index (MI), is the most frequently and readily used cell cycle parameter (Grob & Owens 1994). In mature trees, MI has been related to the developmental stage of vegetative buds (Owens & Molder 1973) and water relations (Owens et al. 1985, Owens & Simpson 1988). Based on these relationships, and similar relationships occurring in seedlings, MI represents a powerful tool that can be used to describe cellular conditions in apical meristems throughout the seasonal growth cycle.

The relationships between MI and other cell cycle parameters are not consistent, and a change in MI does not necessarily indicate changes in factors such as the rate of cell division. For instance, in roots of Zea *mays* the length of the mitosis phase is not extended in proportion to the length of the cell cycle (Clowes 1960), whereas in roots of Vicia faba all stages of the cell cycle are reduced proportionally with lowered temperature (Murin 1981). In addition, cells in different zones of a meristem may show varying and independent rates of cell division and MI (Clowes 1960). Furthermore, it is obvious that large meristems tend to produce more cells than small meristems, but meristem size is in turn dependent on the rate of cell division and the frequency of cells undergoing mitosis.

The duration of cell cycle activity is species-dependent and varies between organs and tissues. In conifers with a distinct dormancy phase during winter, cell division resumes in the apical meristem in spring. In the embryonic shoot, cell division starts first in the needle primordia (Hejnowicz & Obarska 1995) then spreads to the peripheral zone, the pith rib-meristem and, lastly, the apex. In autumn, mitotic activity ceases first at the apex, then in needle primordia and internodal tissues, and finally in the youngest needle and bud scale primordia (Owens 1968, Hejnowicz & Obarska 1995). In the meristem of elongating organs, e.g. in needles and and the pith rib-meristem of shoots, cell division occurs as long as the organ elongates (Owens 1968, Hejnowicz & Obarska 1995).

Freezing resistance in conifers

The freezing process

To be able to withstand low winter temperatures, a sufficient frost hardiness level is essential. The development of freezing resistance is an active process, which takes place at a different pace in different organs. The freezing resistance of primordia and their survival mechanism are key problems in boreal conifers (Sakai & Larcher 1987). Generally, the freezing process of plant cells shows a common sequence of events as the temperature decreases. The main stages are supercooling to the ice-nucleation temperature, release of crystallisation heat and a subsequent rise in temperature to the freezing point, followed by coexistence of liquid and solid phases over a broad temperature range until a more or less solid phase is reached (Sakai & Larcher 1987).

In plant tissues the threshold temperature for ice-nucleation and the freezing point appear to be directly proportional to each other (Yelenosky & Horanic 1969). The phenomenon of supercooling is not fully understood, but the degree of supercooling appears to depend on cell size, relative water content and factors related to the presence or absence of ice-nuclei. In the absence of ice nuclei, pure water may supercool to -38.1°C (Sakai & Larcher 1987). In plants, supercooling represents a transient, unstable state, which may depress freezing 3-8°C below the freezing point, but in specific tissues, e.g. in floral primordia, much lower nucleation temperatures have been reported (Sakai & Larcher 1987). In addition. detached shoots and leaves appear to show a higher degree of supercooling and a lower freezing point than the intact plants.

Freezing point depression is exhibited in plants by an accumulation of sugars or other solutes in the cells (Ögren 1997, Ögren et al.1997) or by a decrease in water content.

Ice formation in plants occurs either intracellularly or extracellularly (Levitt 1980). Since intracellular freezing is considered to be lethal, the ability of plants to tolerate freezing in boreal conditions depends mainly on their ability to either tolerate the stress caused by extracellular (or extraorgan) freezing or by developing a state of supercooling. The rate of dehydration due to water migration is rapid in extracellular freezing, slow in extraorgan freezing and extremely slow or nonexistent in supercooling (Sakai & Larcher 1987). Winter buds of the Abietoideae (Abies, Picea, Tsuga, Larix, Pseudotsuga) show extraorgan freezing whereas winter buds of the Pinoideae (Pinus) show extracellular

freezing.). The rate of water migration may affect the ability of a tissue to withstand sudden drops in temperature.

Ice normally crystallises in the water-conducting system, where the sap has the highest freezing point of any solution in the plant (Zimmermann 1964). Results from hardwoods show that when freezing is initiated, it proceeds from a few nucleation points along the xylem vessels and reaches all parts of a shoot within a relatively short time. (Sakai & Larcher 1987).

Freezing injuries

The plasma membrane appears to be the prime site of freezing injury (Steponkus 1984). The plasma membrane has a central role during freezing and thawing and functions both as a semi-permeable membrane for water diffusion through water channels (Steudle & Henzler 1995) and as a barrier for nucleation of the intracellular solution. In extraorgan freezing the membranes do not function as nucleation barriers either at the cellular level or in the organ, instead the barriers appear at the organ level or outside the organ e.g. the crown during freezing of the buds (Sakai & Larcher 1987). The membranes may experience various types of stress during freezing involving physical effects of the low temperature per se, freezeinduced solute concentration effects, freeze dehydration or changes in pH or ionic strength (Steponkus 1984, Hällgren & Öquist 1990).

Membranes of hardy cells are char-

acteristically resistant to penetration of ice crystals, and show high permeability to water. The extent of frost injury depends on lipid composition of the membranes and the presence of specific cryoprotectants (Hincha et al. 1990. Lin & Thomashow 1992. Nishida & Murata 1996). Furthermore, the extent of injury is also dependent on factors associated with the freezethaw cycle per se. The rate of cooling or thawing appears to be an important factor for the extent of frost injury, as the rate of diffusion of water through the membrane, to ice outside the cells, is limited by the permeability of the plasma membrane. High cooling rates therefore result in nonmay equilibrium freezing followed by intracellular freezing. In freezing experiments, cooling rates of >10°C per min have been shown to cause needle damage, provided that freezing was initiated above -4°C and extended to below -10°C, (Perkins & Adams 1995).

Other important factors for frost injury associated with freeze-thaw cycles appear to be their duration and number and the post-thawing conditions. The minimum temperature levels occurring in nature appears not to be critical for plants in a state of winter-rest (Perkins et al. 1991, Strimbeck at al. 1993.).

Interactions between freezing and other factors effect the extent of frost injuries. For example, frost in combination with high levels of irradiance (Öquist & Strand 1986) and frost in combination with nutrient imbalances, particularly high concentrations of

potassium (Perkins & Adams 1995) results in higher injury levels than frost alone. Depending on the extent of freezing injury and the importance of the damaged tissue, partial or even complete repair is possible (Sakai & Larcher 1987). Freezing injury weakens the plant and may temporarily reduce its potential to assimilate. Recovery from freezing injury is an active process, which requires available assimilates. Therefore, freezing injuries may not only involve direct losses of growth due to freezing, but may also a reduction in growth, due to competition for resources.

Seasonal variation in growth rhythm and frost hardiness in conifers.

Adaptation and acclimation to climate

Adaptation of growth rhythm and frost hardiness levels to seasonal variation in boreal climates is essential for survival and reproduction (fitness). Genetic variation among and within populations in the initiation and cessation of growth, and in the development of frost hardiness, is the basis of the process of adaptation. Individual plants may acclimate to various environmental conditions, and the feature may also be of major adaptive significance. The ability to acclimate is based on the structural and physiological plasticity of plants (Juntilla 1996) and the ability varies between different plant characteristics. Acclimation to different environmental

conditions (e.g. temperature, photoperiod and water stress) may result in similar responses in growth and frost hardiness levels.

Variation in initiation and cessation of growth

Data on cell division in conifers growing under natural conditions are scarce, and data on initiation and cessation of cell division has been mainly derived from studies on species grown under various conditions. Remarkable similarities in the timing of initiation and cessation of cell division are evident, even though different conifer species have been studied in a wide range of climates, e.g. in maritime climates (British Columbia, Canada) and continental climates (Poland). Generally, cell division in the apical meristem tends to start in late March to early April and ends in mid-October to late November. For example, cell division in the apical meristem starts in late March in Pseudotsuga menziesii (Owens 1968) and in Pinus contorta (O'Reilly & Owens 1987), in late March or early April in Picea abies (Heinowicz & Obarska 1995) and in early April in Picea glauca (Owens et al.1977). Cell division in the apical meristem ends in mid-October in Picea glauca (Owens et al.1977) and in Picea abies (Hejnowicz & Obarska 1995), at the end of October in Pinus contorta (O'Reilly & Owens 1987) and in late November in Pseudotsuga menziesii (Owens 1968). However, in Pinus taeda cell division in the apical meristem has been found to continue all year, but at varying levels (Carlson 1985). Cell cycling in the vascular cambium of *Abies balsamea*, and subsequent differentiation into phloem and xylem, starts in May and ends in September (Mellerowicz et al. 1992).

Several environmental factors influence the level of apical mitotic activity, for example, photoperiod, temperature, nutrient-status and water availability. However, their influence on variation in initiation and cessation of growth is unclear. The initiation of growth is often assumed to depend primarily on the temperature requirement for initiation, whereas cessation of growth appears to be influenced by several factors. Both short-days and moisture stress have been found to reduce MI in Tsuga heterophylla, but in contrast to short days, moisture stress did not end cell division (O'Reilly et al. 1989). In studies on Pinus taeda, fertilisation temporarily affected MI levels but did not lead to changes in the timing of dormancy in apical meristem (Carlson et the al.1980, Williams & South 1992). It appears that photoperiod influences cessation of cell division in apical meristems, whereas the influence of temperature per se (Murin 1981) is less clear.

Variation in levels of frost hardiness

The seasonal variations in frost hardiness levels have been reported in various conifer species growing under natural conditions (Glerum 1976, Cannell & Sheppard 1982, Koski 1985, Repo 1992, Beuker et al. 1998). Generally, the level of frost hardiness tends to decrease from late March to May, whereas it tends to increase from September to November. In many conifers freezing to -40°C or lower, during the winter, does not induce freezing injuries.

Temperature and photoperiod are the two main environmental factors that determine the level of frost hardiness (Glerum 1976). Several studies indicate that the dehardening occurs primarily as a response to increasing temperatures. However, photoperiod affects the timing of bud burst (Partanen et al. 1998) and effects of photoperiod on the level of frost hardiness can therefore not be excluded. Several studies indicate that hardening occurs in two or three stages (Weiser 1970, Glerum 1976). A short day stimulus appears to induce the first stage of frost hardiness development and subfreezing temperatures, just below 0°C, appear to induce the second step. A third stage induced by temperatures of -30 to -50°C has also been suggested. For buds and needles, fluctuations in the levels of frost hardiness during mid-winter appear to coincide well with fluctuations in ambient temperatures (Strimbeck et al. 1995, Beuker et al. 1998). In Abies balsamea, chilling temperatures, and (to a degree) short photoperiods promote development of frost hardiness of the cambium in autumn, whereas no effect of temperature and photoperiod has been observed in spring (Mellerowicz et al.1992).

Plants use light signals throughout their lifecycle to synchronise development with seasonal changes, thereby ensuring that the available resources

are used effectively. Investigations at the physiological level indicate that phytochromes have roles in many ecological processes, for example induction of dormancy and frost hardiness development (Smith 1995, Olsen et al. 1997). The functions of the phytochromes in photoperiodic perception are the least well understood of the phytochrome functions. However, it seems to be established that phytochrome A has a role in long-day plants, and phytochrome B plays a role in the perception of short days. Results in hybrid aspen (Populus tremula × tremuloides) indicate that phytochrome A may be involved in the detection of photoperiod in trees (Olsen et al. 1997). Over-expression of phytochrome A has resulted in changes in the critical daylength and prevented cold acclimation. Furthermore, these changes were accompanied by changes in levels of several plant hormones e.g. gibberellins and IAA, which indicate that they may be involved in short-day induced growth cessation in trees.

Early testing of growth and frost hardiness

The purpose of growth rhythm and frost hardiness assessments in earlytests may vary, depending on the objectives of the tests. In tree breeding the focus is generally set more on the ranking of genotypes for specific traits, than on determining absolute values. Furthermore, the juvenile traits should reflect adaptive processes that are essential for survival and reproduction. Examples of juvenile traits that reflect adaptive processes include freezing injuries after freeze-tests (Johnsen 1989), bud-set (Skrøppa 1988) and stem lignification (Pulkinnen 1993). As non-juvenile trees show only predetermined growth, juvenile traits in juvenile seedlings may not be directly related to the corresponding non-juvenile traits. For example the timing of bud-set is different on a oneyear-old seedling compared with a non-juvenile tree.

A correlation between juvenile traits and mature traits is essential for valid early testing. In Picea abies, juvenile-mature correlations in growth cessation traits in autumn are often indirect and based on patterns among natural populations. For example, budset or hardiness in young seedlings follows the same latitudinal cline (Ekberg et al.1979) as autumn dry-matter content in older trees (Langlet 1960). Correlation estimates between traits that describe growth cessation in oneyear old seedlings are usually strong at the population level (Johnsen & Apeland 1988, Pulkkinen 1993). whereas the estimates appear to be lower among families (Johnsen & Apeland 1988, Skrøppa 1991).

Testing of frost hardiness

In artificial freeze tests, plant samples (e.g. whole plants, detached shoots, buds or needles) are exposed to a series of low temperatures according to a defined freeze/thaw cycle. The result of the freezing injury evaluation after freezing is dependent on several factors. Factors associated with the freeze-thaw cycle have previously been discussed. In addition, the treatment of samples before and after freezing is important, as is the method used for assessing freezing injuries, e.g. measurement of Fv/Fm ratios, or electrolyte leakage.

Generally, frost hardiness levels should be considered as relative and not absolute, as the conditions before, during and after the freeze/thaw cycle are never exactly the same on different freeze occasions. Interpretation of the frost hardiness levels to specific temperatures (°C) should therefore be avoided, as the results are only valid under specific conditions set during the freeze test. Determination of frost hardiness levels is thus not different from determination of growth performances, which are often expressed in relative terms rather than absolute terms.

The method used for assessing freezing injuries should be carefully considered when interpreting them. Low Fv/Fm-ratios may indicate low photochemical efficiency caused by the freeze treatment. However, low Fv/Fm-ratios are also observed in acclimation to low temperature. Therefore, Fv/Fm-ratios near zero do not always indicate freezing injuries in photosystem (PS) II, as they may also be part of an important acclimation process to environmental factors.

Aim of the study

The most important aim of the study was to compare growth performance of selected populations of local origin with that of southern natural populations, in order to clarify whether similarities in growth performances had similar physiological background. This was done by a characterising seasonal growth rhythms and seasonal frost hardiness development in local, transferred and selected seed sources. Additionally, the relative importance of various growth components and of frost hardiness for overall growth in Norway spruce was studied from a general perspective.

Results and discussion

Spring

Initiation of growth

In winter and early spring the levels of photochemical activity, as expressed by the Fv/Fm-ratio, were low in all populations studied, as an acclimation to low ambient temperature levels (I, III). In April, photochemical activity levels were further lowered in all populations to an seasonal minimum, which indicated photoinhibitory conditions presumably due to low night temperatures combined with excess light during the day (I, III). In late spring, photochemical recovery occurred in all populations, following the gradually increasing temperatures (I, III). The photochemical recovery in spring appeared to be mainly dependent on temperature, but an effect of population origin was also observed, as a slightly later recovery, or possibly a later onset, of photochemical activity was observed in some southern populations. Results are in

accordance with Lundmark et al. (1998) and Berg & Linder (1999) where mean air temperature affected the photochemical recovery in spring. However, in their studies recovery was also affected by other factors, e.g. light conditions and frequency of severe night frosts.

In early spring (April) the levels of apical mitotic activity, as expressed by the mitotic index (MI), increased rapidly in all populations (II, IV). The high levels of mitotic activity appeared not to be influenced solely by temperature, as previous periods with relatively warm temperatures had no apparent effect on MI levels (II, IV). The results indicate a synchronous release of a cell cycle blockage. Previous studies of MI in Pseudotsuga menziesii.(Mirb.), Franco (Owens & Molder 1973) Fraxinus excelsior (Cottignies 1979) and Abies balsamea (Mellerowicz et al.1989) indicate that the cell cycle is blocked during autumn in the G1/S boundary.

After the short characteristic period in early spring, with high levels of apical mitotic activity in all populations, the activity levels decreased in all populations (II, IV). In mid spring, mitotic activity levels tended to increase again, following a gradual increase in temperature (II, IV). The mitotic activity levels appeared to be mainly dependent on temperature. However, an effect of population origin was also seen, as northern populations showed higher MI levels than southern populations (IV), indicating an earlier start of growth in the northern population. Furthermore, differences in MI levels indicated that growth started later in one of three clones of similar origin studied, than in the other two (II). The MI levels in spring appeared to reflect variation in temperature and population origins, but no effect of selection was detected. The results are in accordance with those of Cannell & Willett (1975) who showed that among both *P. sitchensis* and *P. contorta* populations, northern populations initiated apical meristematic activity before more southerly ones.

The start of shoot growth, as indicated by the date of bud burst, occurred earlier in northern populations than in southern populations (IV). An effect of selection on the start of shoot growth was also observed, as selected populations started shoot growth later than natural populations of similar origin (IV). Furthermore, among the three clones of similar origin studies, one showed a later start of growth than the other two (II). In 1996 and in 1997, shoot growth started on similar Julian days (Fig. 4), even though spring 1996 was warmer than spring 1997 (III). Furthermore, until the start of shoot growth, there were 74 chill days (\leq 5 °C from Nov. 1) in 1996, and 59 in 1997. The results indicate that the start of shoot growth was not influenced by observed differences in temperature sum (e.g. degree-days, > 5°C) or in number of chill days. However, after shoot growth had started, further shoot growth development was mainly influenced by temperature. The data confirm results by Hannerz (1999), suggesting that chilling conditions in southern and central Sweden are not limiting for bud burst. According to Worrall (1975) a variation in threshold temperatures for bud burst appears to exist, both among populations and among clones, and the ranking appears to be stable over the years.



Fig. 4. Average leader shoot length for all populations in 1996 (◊) and in 1997
(♦). Standard error of the means are indicated by vertical bars.

It is possible that the observed differences in temperature sum in this study were not large enough to influence the overall start of shoot growth, and that populations may have different temperature requirements. Another possible explanation is that the start of shoot growth is also influenced by factors other than temperature. Partanen et al. (1998) showed that budburst in Picea abies was influenced by chilling temperatures and by the photoperiod in November and December. Heide (1993) showed that long days reduced the thermal time to bud burst at all flushing temperatures in some northern decidous tree species (Heide 1993). Furthermore, Dormling (1982) found that well-hardened seedlings of Norway spruce flushed earlier than less hardy ones. Altogether, the start of shoot growth appeared to reflect genetic variation among populations and among clones, but not just through variation in characters such as temperature requirements.

Overall, the results from spring indicate a genetic variation in initiation of growth, both among populations and among clones of similar origin. Initiation of growth tended to start later in populations of southern origins than in those of northern origins, and differences in initiation of growth were observed among clones of similar origin. After growth had been initiated, further development of growth in spring was influenced by an increase in temperature. Variation among populations in initiation of growth could not be explained solely by different temperature requirements for initiation and, therefore, other factors appeared to be involved. Generally, the different parameters that were used to show different aspects of the dynamics of growth in spring appeared to give similar results, which indicate that they may be used interchangeably.

Dehardening

In spring, the frost hardiness levels, as expressed by the Fv/Fm-ratios after freezing and by relative conductivity (RC) ratios, gradually declined from late April to early May. Populations of northern origins dehardened slightly earlier than those of southern origins (III) and a selection effect was ob-

served, as selected populations appeared to deharden slightly later than natural populations of similar origin. Furthermore, among clones of similar origin a difference in frost hardiness levels in late spring/early summer was recorded (I). Generally, the process of dehardening appeared to be affected by temperature and possibly photoperiod, as a gradual increase in temperature resulted in decreased frost hardiness levels, whereas no dehardening occurred during warm periods in winter. In contrast to the Fv/Fm-results, the RC results indicated a simultaneous dehardening in northern and southern populations but a selection effect was observed, as selected populations appear to deharden later than natural populations of similar origin. The results are consistent with other studies (Sarvas 1972, Koski 1985, Repo 1992) that have shown dehardening to be influenced by temperature. However, they conflict with other studies on Picea abies (Beuker et al, 1998), Picea glauca (Simpson 1994) and Picea sitchensis (Cannell and Sheppard, 1982) in which no clear spring-time differences in hardiness between northern and southern populations were detected.

The results on dehardening in spring indicate a genetic variation in dehardening, both among populations and among clones of similar origin. In all populations dehardening tended to progress from very high hardiness levels in mid April down to low summer hardiness levels in late May or early June. Populations of northern origins dehardened slightly earlier than populations of southern origins and a difference in dehardening between clones of similar origin was evident. Selection resulted in a slightly later dehardening in selected populations than in comparable natural populations. Variation among populations in initiation of dehardening could not be explained solely by differences in temperature requirements for dehardening. Thus, other factors appear to be involved. After dehardening had been initiated, further dehardening was promoted by increasing temperatures.

Conclusions regarding spring events

Taken together, the results on growth and dehardening in spring indicated genetic variation both among populations and among clones of similar origin. Initiation of growth and dehardening tended to start later in populations with southern origins than in populations with northern origins. Early initiation of growth appeared to be related to early dehardening among clones of similar origin. Furthermore, selection appeared to result in a later start of growth and a slightly later dehardening than in natural populations of similar origin. Variation among populations in initiation of growth and dehardening could not be explained solely by differences in temperature requirements, so other factors are likely involved. However, after growth and dehardening had been initiated, both processes were promoted by increases in temperature.

Autumn

Cessation of growth

In summer and early autumn all populations showed high photochemical activity, as expressed by the Fv/Fm-ratio, and the levels appeared to follow changes in ambient temperature (I, III). In populations of northern origin, the level of photochemical activity was lower from late autumn than in those of southern origins, but no selection effect on the level of photochemical activity was noted (I, III). Depending on the ambient temperature level and the time of the year, naturally occurring freezing temperatures resulted in either a minor temporary decline in photochemical activity or in a more permanent decline (I). A permanent decline coincided with day and night average temperatures below freezing and occasional night temperatures down to -10°C. This decline appeared earlier in populations of northern origins than in those of southern origins. The results are in accordance with earlier observations in spruce (Bolhàr-Nordenkampf Lechner and 1988. Lundmark et al. 1988). In late autumn, after the photochemical decline in populations of northern origin, those of southern origins were able to respond to periods with relatively high temperatures (III). Possibly, this ability may be associated with the changed relative leader shoot growth pattern observed among clones when warm periods in autumn were followed with sudden drops in autumn minimum temperatures (II).

Apical mitotic activity in autumn,

as expressed by MI, ceased earlier and declined more sharply in populations of northern origins than in populations of southern origin (IV). Cessation of diameter growth showed no relation to the duration and level of apical MI (II). Among the studied clones no consistent difference in mitotic index (MI), either in period or in general levels was observed (II). Cessation of apical mitotic activity occurred later in selected populations than in natural populations of similar latitudinal origin (IV), indicating there was either an effect of plus-tree selection or a longlasting effect of the seed orchard environment (Johnsen 1989a, b) on the timing of growth cessation. Cessation of mitotic activity appeared to be influenced by population origin, whereas the effect of temperature was unclear as the response of mitotic activity to temperature differed in spring and autumn. The results are consistent with results presented by Cannell & Willett (1975) showing that the point at which apical growth slowed down in autumn was closely correlated with latitude of seed origin. According to results from climate chamber experiments with detached shoots of Picea abies, cessation of apical mitotic activity appeared to be mainly influenced by day length (Fig. 5) (unpublished data).

Variation in cessation of apical mitotic activity in autumn, i.e. the duration of apical mitotic activity, appeared to be unrelated to the number of stem-units (NSU) produced in either lateral or leader shoots the following year (**II**, **IV**). Generally, NSU appeared to be



Fig 5. Contour plots of the response of Mitotic Index (MI), %, (upper panel) and the Fv/Fm-ratio after freezing to -25ºC, (lower panel) in lateral shoots exposed to different temperature and daylength conditions. Shoots were collected from non-iuvenile trees (average latitudinal origin 63.8°N) in early August 1998 and subdivided into four equal groups (n=8). MI and Fv/Fm-ratios were determined using the same shoots, on Julian day 258 (Sept. 14) 1998, after five weeks in four different controlled environments: 10 h day/ 4 °C, 10 h day/ 12 °C, 16 h day/ 4 ºC, 16 h day/ 12 ºC.

correlated with tree height, leader shoot length and summer temperatures, whereas elongation of stemunits was mainly influenced by summer temperature. The accumulated height growth among natural populations showed poor growth performances in natural populations transferred more than approximately 3° in latitude, mainly due to lower number of stem-units (IV). In the study, southern populations did not show a lower ability to produce NSU than other populations. The results therefore indicated that the observed differences in height growth between southern and more northern populations, evident already in 1990, were related to differences in climatic adaptation. An effect of selection was indicated as selected populations appeared to produce more NSU than natural populations. Furthermore, of the three clones studies. the one with the greatest height growth produced more NSU and showed greater elongation of its stem-units than the other two.

Altogether, the results on growth cessation in autumn indicated genetic variation in cessation of growth both among and within populations. Cessation of growth occurred later in populations of southern origins and than in those of northern origins, and a selection effect on cessation of growth was observed. The level of photochemical activity appeared to be influenced by temperature, and remained at high levels until low freezing temperatures occurred in late autumn. Generally, the level of mitotic activity in autumn was influenced by temperature, as both the production of NSU and MI levels appeared to decrease with decreasing temperature. However, the influence of temperature on cessation of mitotic activity per se appeared to be small.

Hardening

In autumn, the frost hardiness levels of needles, as expressed by the Fv/Fm-ratio after freezing, gradually

(I). The rate of hardening appeared to be most rapid when the daily mean temperature fell to near or below +5°C (I) but was not related to the occurrence of frost (III). Northern populations were more frost resistant than southern populations, indicating there was a response to photoperiod. According to results from climate chamber experiments with detached shoots of Picea abies, needle frost hardiness, as expressed by the Fv/Fm-ratio after freezing to -25 °C appeared to be influenced by both day length and temperature (Fig. 5) (unpublished data). Results are consistent with those of Heide (1974) and Aronsson (1975), suggesting that both short-days and chilling temperatures are needed to induce cold hardiness in spruce. Also, Repo (1992) showed that, for both pine and spruce, temperatures between +10° to 0°C are the most efficient for inducing hardening. In addition to the observed influence of temperature and photoperiod on the development of needle frost hardiness, the nutritional status of the needles appeared to affect hardening. Fertilisation appeared to promote the development of needle frost hardiness

in autumn, as indicated by the results

from a field study (Fig. 6) (unpub-

increased from early September to late October. Northern populations hard-

ened earlier than southern populations

(III) but no selection effects were ob-

served. Furthermore, a difference in

frost hardiness levels was observed

among clones of similar origins, as

frost hardiness developed 1-2 weeks

later in one of the three studied clones.

lished data). Furthermore, two of the three studied clones showed significantly lower levels of K and earlier hardening than the third clone (Clone 71) (I and unpublished data). The results are consistent with results in *Picea rubra* by Perkins & Adams (1995) and in *Picea sitchensis* by Jalkanen et al. (1998), where the timing of hardening and the level of midwinter hardiness were strongly influenced by deprivation of K.



Fig. 6. Average Fv/Fm-ratios before (open symbols) and after (filled symbols) freezing to five temperatures (-5, -10, -17, -27 and -40 °C) on each of seven occasions during autumn 1999. Current year needles were collected at 1-2 m height from nonjuvenile trees of local origin at Flakaliden research area north of Umeå, treated with irrigation and liquid fertilization (Δ, \blacktriangle) (control, \Box , . Samples were collected from four trees on each of two plots representing the different treatments. n= 8 samples \times 5 temp. = 40.

Buds appeared to be less hardy than needles in early autumn, and de-

veloped hardiness approximately two weeks later than needles (III). In late autumn the hardiness levels appeared to be similar in buds and needles. Sudden drops in autumn minimum temperatures to below c. -12°C (-12± 1°C), following several weeks with mean temperatures above 3°C, affected subsequent shoot growth (II). The results are consistent with those of Beuker et al. (1998) who reported much higher rates of hardening in needles than in buds. However, in their study, needles hardened to higher frost hardiness levels than buds. Altogether, the results on the development of frost hardiness in needles and buds, indicated that needle frost hardiness is influenced by several environmental factors, and that bud frost hardiness appeared to be related to the mitotic activity within the bud. Therefore, it is possible that the observed variation in growth among natural populations was related to variation in frost hardiness levels among the populations.

In one-year-old seedlings of Norway spruce, strong correlations appeared to exist, at the population level, among growth cessation traits and between these traits and frost hardiness levels (V). The results indicated that timing of growth cessation traits e.g. bud set, height growth cessation, the degree of shoot lignification or frost hardiness levels could be used independently as indicators of growth cessation and frost hardiness level, at least at the population level (V). A clinal variation in cessation of growth was also observed, as latitude of origin explained a large part of the statistical

variation among stands for the analysed traits, and growth cessation tended to start later in populations of southern origins than in populations of northern origins. Effects of selection on growth cessation and frost hardiness level were observed. On average, the seed-orchard progeny (selected populations) performed similarly to progeny from natural stands located 1-2 degrees south of the origin of the seed-orchard clones. Strong correlations among timing of budset, shoot lignification and frost hardiness level in first-year seedlings at the population level have also been reported in other studies on Norway spruce (Pulkkinen 1993, Johnsen & Apeland 1988, Skrøppa 1991). However, Skrøppa (1991) and Johnsen & Apeland (1988) found that the relationship between the frost hardiness level and the timing of budset was much weaker among families than among populations.

Conclusions regarding autumn events

Altogether, the results on growth and frost hardiness development in autumn indicated genetic variation in cessation of growth and frost hardiness development, both among populations and among clones of similar origin. Generally, cessation of growth hardiness development and frost tended to start later in populations of southern origins than in populations of northern origins. Variation in photochemical activity before and after freezing appeared not to be entirely related to variation in levels of mitotic activity either among populations or among clones of similar origin. In nonjuvenile trees both the level of mitotic activity and the level of frost hardiness in autumn appeared to be influenced by temperature. However, the level of frost hardiness in needles appeared to be affected by both temperature and day length, whereas cessation of growth in buds appeared to be mostly affected by day length. Prolonged MI activity in autumn may be associated with a higher risk of frost damage to buds. In contrast, in juvenile seedlings strong correlations appeared to exist, at the population level, among growth cessation traits and frost hardiness levels. The different shoot growth patterns in juvenile seedlings and in non-juvenile trees may affect the interpretation of needle hardiness.

Validity of results and potential sources of error

The results are mainly based on two field-test, at one location in northern Sweden. Therefore, the results must be interpreted with caution. They may reflect specific conditions at the location that are not generally applicable, or conditions that contrast with other test environments, such as those prevailing at the field tests used to determine "transfer rules" for planting *Picea abies* within Sweden (Rosvall & Ericsson 1981). Generally, these field trials were established in slopes, whereas this study was performed on flat abandoned farmland.

In the clonal field-test (I, II) three clones were selected to represent the extreme range in accumulated height growth among a population of clones (rooted cuttings), selected through several previous selection steps. The clones studied may not, therefore, constitute a representative sample of either the population of clones studied, or of natural populations of similar origins. However, they do at least contribute to our general knowledge of seasonal rhythms of growth and hardiness development.

In the field-test with seedlings (III, IV), at least three potential effects of both natural and artificial selection may be present. Firstly, the high mortality in the field test may have led to unwanted selection, but if so the effect of this selection appeared to be nonsystematic. Secondly, the sampling of trees for the study appeared to be slightly skewed, as the northern natural populations, compared with northern selected populations, were relatively taller in the studied sample than when all trees in the test were considered. The effect of this is probably negligible when MI and frost hardiness levels are concerned, but it may cause an underestimate of the growth performance of selected population. Thirdly, the study was not optimally designed with respect to the main methods of subsequent data analysis e.g. with populations grouped into southern and northern populations. Considering this, population limits should have been established first, and study trees should then have been randomly selected from all the trees in each population group.

Freeze tests of detached shoots (**I**, **III**) involve a higher degree of supercooling, and lower freezing point, than

those with intact shoots (Sakai & Larcher 1987). Similarly, freeze tests of needles or buds probably involve a higher degree of supercooling and a lower freezing point than those of other plant parts. Furthermore, icenucleation was not promoted artificially by, for example, spraying the needle samples with water before freezing. However, on other occasions when ice-nucleation was promoted by spraying needles with water or by adding nucleation powder, no effects on the relative frost hardiness levels were observed. The approach adopted is likely to have led to an overestimation of frost hardiness levels in all populations, but this would not have affected relative frost hardiness levels.

Mitotic activity was regarded as a discrete random variable with a binomial distribution, and individual cells as statistically independent trials (II. IV). The assumption that the individual cells were statistically independent trials may not be fully correct as it assumes a random distribution of cells in mitosis on the cell squashes. Based on the data obtained, however, slightly more mitoses occur at the edge of the cell squashes, and occasionally the distribution of mitoses appeared to be clustered, indicating that the individual cells may not be independent trails. Thus, the monitoring approach chosen affected the error and significance levels. However, it should not have affected the problem of decreasing variation that accompanies low MI figures, e.g. in early spring and late autumn.

Concluding remarks

The results indicated genetic variation in initiation and cessation of growth, as well as in initiation of dehardening and hardening, both among populations and among clones of similar origins.

Natural populations of southern origins tended to initiate growth and dehardening later in spring and to start growth cessation and hardening later in autumn, than populations of northern origins. Natural populations transferred more than approximately 3° in latitude showed poor growth performances mainly because they had lower numbers stem-units. Based on these findings, the prolonged mitotic activity observed in southern populations seems to be of ambiguous value, since it may increase the risk of frost-related bud injuries rather than increase the amount of stem-units produced.

Progenies of selected plus-trees showed a later start of growth and slightly later dehardening in spring. Growth cessation occurred later in juvenile seedlings of selected populations. Furthermore, in non-juvenile trees of selected populations MI activity was prolonged, compared with natural populations of similar origin. Needle frost hardiness levels in selected populations were similar to those of natural populations of similar origin. Selected populations of northern origins tended to produce more stem-units than natural populations of similar origin. Growth and hardiness performances of southern populations and of selected populations of local

origin appeared, at least in part, to have a similar physiological basis.

In spring, initiation of growth and dehardening appeared to be correlated with the later occurring bud burst both among populations and among clones, indicating that the present use of bud burst is valid and practical indicator of growth initiation. Initiation of growth and dehardening could not be solely explained by temperature.

In autumn, juvenile traits on juvenile seedling such as bud set, height growth cessation, degree of shoot lignification or frost hardiness level appeared to be possible indicators of growth cessation, at least at the population level. In non-juvenile populations, the amount of shoot growth appeared not to be correlated with duration of mitotic activity. Therefore, in non-juvenile populations, traits related to cessation of shoot growth appear to have less potential for use as indicators of growth cessation. However, it may be possible to use traits related to the duration of apical mitotic activity, e.g. bud frost hardiness, as prolonged mitotic activity could imply increased risk of bud injuries in late autumn. Initiation of growth cessation appeared to be influenced by photoperiod, and needle hardening by photoperiod and temperature. Generally, the development of needle hardiness in autumn appeared not to be fully correlated to levels of mitotic activity either among populations or among clones of similar origins.

Practical implications

• The effects of the test environment on the effects of seed transfer and selection of individual trees need to be studied. For example, prolonged mitotic activity may represent a growth potential that is mainly expressed as high numbers of stem units in favourable environments, e.g. on south facing slopes, in contrast to less favourable environments, such as flat abandoned farmland, where it may lead to low numbers of stem-units.

• Breeding of Norway spruce may benefit from more distinctly defined growth traits than those traditionally used, like accumulated height growth. For instance, it may be useful to separate growth traits related to growth rhythm, e.g. duration of mitotic activity, from traits which are not, or only moderately, related to growth rhythm.

• To improve early testing, genetic correlations between similar traits in juvenile and non-juvenile trees must be identified. For example, the correlations between traits observed in juvenile seedlings, e.g. bud set and frost hardiness, with growth traits found in non-juvenile trees that are related to apical mitotic activity e.g. duration of such activity.

• The internal factors and regulating substances involved in the seasonal development of growth and frost hardiness levels need to be characterised more fully, as the seasonal development of growth and frost hardiness levels is important for high growth performance. • The relationship between rate of cell division and production of stemunits needs to be studied, as high growth performance and high numbers of stem-units appeared not to be correlated with prolonged mitotic activity. New tools in cell molecular biology are now available that makes it possible to measure the rate of cell division, which should help in this task.

• The relationship between needle and bud hardiness levels in nonjuvenile trees and mitotic activity, e.g. duration of apical mitotic activity also needs to be investigated. This includes development of new methods for nondestructive bud hardiness measurements.

References

- Anon. 1993. Skogsstyrelsens föreskrifter och allmänna råd till skogsvårdslagen (1979:429), Skogsstyrelsens författningssamling (SKSFS) 1993:2, National Board of Forestry, Jönköping, Sweden, 26 pp, ISSN 0347-5212 (In Swedish).
- Aronsson, A. 1975. Influence of photo- and thermoperiod on the initial stages of frost hardening and dehardening of phytotron-grown seedlings of Scots pine (*Pinus silvestris* L.) and Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.) Stud. For. Suecica 128, 20 pp.
- Bergh, J. & Linder, S. 1999. Effects of soil warming during spring on photosynthetic recovery in boreal Norway spruce stands. Global Change Biol. 5: 245-253.

Beuker, E., Valtonen, E., Repo, T.

1998. Seasonal variation in the frost hardiness of Scots pine and Norway spruce in old provenance experiments in Finland. For. Ecol. Manag. 107: 87-98.

- Bolhàr-Nordenkampf, H.R. & Lechner, E.G. 1988. Temperature and light dependent modifications of chlorophyll fluorescence kinetics in spruce needles during winter. Photosynth. Res. 18: 287-298.
- Bongarten, B 1985. Relationships between shoot length and shoot components in Douglas-fir and Blue spruce. Can. J. For. Res. 16: 373-380
- Burley, J. 1966. Provenance variation in growth of seedling apices of Sitka spruce. For. Sci 12: 170-175.
- Cannell, M.G.R. & Johnstone, R.C.B. 1978. Free or lammas growth and progeny performance in Picea sitchensis. Silvae Genet. 27:248-254.
- Cannell, M.G.R. & Sheppard, L.J. 1982. Seasonal changes in the frost hardiness of provenancs of *Picea sitchensis* in Scotland. Forestry 55: 137-153.
- Cannell, M.G.R & Willett S.C. 1975. Rates and times at which needles are initated in buds on differing provenances of *Pinus contorta* and *Picea sitchensis*. Silvae Genet. 27: 248-254.
- Carlson, W.C. 1985. Seasonal variation in mitotic index in the stem apex of loblolly pine seedlings. *In:* Proceedings of the IUFRO International Symposium on Nursery Management Practices for the Southern Pines, 4-9 Aug. 1985, Montgomery. South, D.B. (ed.), Alabama Agricultural Experiment Station, Mont-

gomery. p. 303-310.

- Carlson, W.C., Binder, W.D., Feenan, C.O. & Preisig, C.L. 1980. Changes in the mitotic index during the onset of dormancy in Douglas–fir seedlings. Can. J. For. Res. 10:371-378.
- Clowes, F.A.L. 1960. Duration of the mitotic cycle in a meristem. J. Exp. Bot. 12: 283-293.
- Cottignies, A. 1979. The blockage in the G_1 phase of the cell cycle in the dormant shoot apex of ash. Planta 147: 15-19
- Doak, C.C. 1935. Evolution of foliar types, dwarf shoots and cone scales of Pinus. III. Biol. Monogr. 13:1-106. (Cited from O'Reilly & Owens, 1987)
- Dormling I. 1982. Frost resistance during bud flushing and shoot elongation in Picea abies. *In:* Population genetics of forest trees. Proceedings of symposium held in Helsinki 1981. Tigerstedt, P.M.A. (Ed.), Silva Fennica 16: 167-177.
- Dormling, I., Gustafsson, Å. & von Wettstein, D. 1968. The experimental control of the life cycle in *Picea abies* (L.) Karst. I. Some basic experiments on the vegetative cycle. Silvae Genet. 17: 44-64.
- Ekberg, I., Eriksson, G. & Dormling, I. 1979. Photoperiodic reactions in conifer species. Holarctic Ecology 2: 255-263.
- Encyclopædia Britannica 1992. Encyclopædia Britannica, Inc., Fifteenth edition, Chicago, USA. ISBN 0-85229-553-7.
- Glerum, C. 1976. Frost hardiness of forest trees. Cannell, M.G.R. & Last, F.T. (ed.). Tree physiology and yield improvement. Proceedings of a con-

ference on physiological genetics of forest tree yield. Gorebridge, Scotland, July 13-21, 1975. VXII. 403-420.

- Grob, J. A. & Owens, J. N. 1994.Techniques to study the cell cycle in conifer shoot apical meristems. Can.J. For. Res. 24: 472-482
- Hannerz, M. 1999. Evaluation of temperature models for predicting bud burst in Norway spruce. Can. J. For. Res. 29: 9-19.
- Heide, O. M. 1974. Growth and dormancy in Norway spruce ecotypes. I. Interaction of photoperiod and temperature. Physiol. Plant. 30: 1-12
- Heide, O. M. 1993. Daylength and thermal release of budburst during dormancy release in some northern decidous trees. Physiol. Plant. 88: 531-540.
- Hejnowicz, A. & Obarska, E. 1995. Structure and development of vegetative buds, from the lower crown of *Picea abies*. Ann. Sci. For. 52 (5): 433-447.
- Hällgren, J-E. & Öquist, G. 1990. Adaptations to low temperatures. *In* Alscher R.G & Cumming, J.R. (eds.)
 Stress responses in plants: adaptation and acclimation mechanisms.
 Wiley-Liss, Inc. New York. pp. 265-293.
- Hincha, D.K., Heber, U. & Schmitt, J.M. 1990. Proteins from frost-hardy leaves protect thylakoids against mechanical freeze-thaw damage in vitro. Planta 80: 416-419.
- Jacobs, T.W. 1995. Cell cycle control. Annu. Rev. Plant. Physiol. Plant. Mol. Biol. 46:317-339.
- Jalkanen, R.E., Redfern, D.B. & Sheppard L.J. 1998. Nutrient deficits in-

crease frost hardiness in Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*) needles. For. Ecol. Manag. 107: 191-201.

- Johnsen, Ø. 1989 *a*. Phenotypic changes in progenies of northern clones of *Picea abies* (L.) Karst. grown in a southern seed orchard: I. Frost hardiness in a phytotron experiment. Scan. J. For. Res. 4: 317-330.
- Johnsen, Ø. 1989 b. Phenotypic changes in progenies of northern clones of Picea abies (L.) Karst. grown in a southern seed orchard: II. Seasonal growth rhythm and height in field trials. Scan. J. For. Res. 4(3): 331-342.
- Johnsen, Ø. & Apeland, I. 1988. Screening early autumn frost hardiness among progenies from Norway spruce seed orchards. Silva Fennica 22: 203-212.
- Junttilla, O. 1996. Plant adaptation to temperature and photoperiod. Agricultural and food science in Finland, 5: 251-260.
- Karlsson, B. 1999. Progenies from plus-trees of Norway Spruce (*Picea abies*) in Sweden perform better than those from randomly selected trees in the same stands. Proceedings from the IUFRO-meeting in Slovakia, Sept. 1997 (in press).
- Koski, V. 1985. The timing of hardening and dehardening in forest trees. Acta Horticulturae 168; 117-124.
- Lambers, H., Chapin III, F.S. & Pons, T.L. 1998. Plant Physiological Ecology, Springer-Verlag New York Berlin Heidelberg, 540 p, ISBN 0-387-98326-0.

Langlet, O. 1960. Mellaneuropeiska

granprovenienser i svenskt skogsbruk. *In* Kungl. Skogs- och Lantbruksakad. Tidskrift 5-6: 259-329. (In Swedish with German summary.)

- Levitt, J. 1980. Responses of plants to environmental stresses, Vol. 1. Academic Press, New York: 139-149.
- Little, C.H.A. & Savidge, R.A. 1987. The role of plant growth regulators in forest tree cambial growth. Plant Growth Reg. 6: 137-169.
- Lin, C. & Thomashow, M.F. 1992. A cold-regulated *Arabidopsis* gene encodes a polypeptide having potent cryo-protectant activity. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Com. 183: 1103-1108.
- Lundmark, T., Bergh, J., Strand, M. & Koppel, A. 1998. Seasonal variation in maximum photochemical efficiency in boreal Norway spruce stands. Trees-Structure and Function. 13: 63-67.
- Lundmark, T., Hällgren, J.-E. & Hedén, J. 1988. Recovery from winter depression of photosynthesis in pine and spruce. Trees 2: 110-114.
- Mellerowicz, E.J., Coleman, W.K., Riding, R.T. & Little, C.H.A. 1992. Periodicity of cambial activity in Abies balsamea. I. Effects of temperature and photoperiod on cambial dormancy and frost hardiness. Physiol. Plant. 85: 515-525.
- Mellerowicz, E.J., Riding, R.T. & Little, C.H.A. 1989. Genomic variability in the vascular cambium of Abies balsamea. Can. J. Bot. 67: 990-996.
- Murin. A. 1981. Regulation of the mitotic cycle in seedling roots of *Vicia faba* by environmental factors. *In*: Brouwer, Gasparikova, Kolek &

Loughmon (eds.), Structure and function of plant roots. p. 15-18. Devel. in Plant and Soil Sciences, Dr W. Junk Publishers. The Hague/ Boston/ London.

- Nishida, I. & Murata, N. 1996. Chilling sensitivity in plants and cyanobacteria: The crucial contribution of membrane lipids. Annu. Rev. Physiol. Plant. Mol. Bol. 47: 541-568.
- Ögren, E. 1997. Relationship between temperature, respiratory loss of sugar and premature dehardening in dormant Scots pine seedlings. Tree Physiol. 17: 47-51.
- Ögren, E., Nilson, T. & Sundblad, L.-G. 1997. Relationship between respiratory depletion of sugars and loss of cold hardiness in coniferous seedlings over-wintering at raised temperatures: indications of different sensitivities of spruce and pine. Plant, Cell Environ. 20:247-253.
- Olsen, J.E., Junttila, O., Nilsen, J., Eriksson, M.E., Martinussen, I., Olsson, O., Sandberg, G. & Moritz, T. 1997. Ectopic expression of oat phytocrome A in hybrid aspen changes critical daylength for growth and prevents cold acclimatization. Plant J. 12: 1339-1350.
- Öquist, G. & Strand, M. 1986. eller Strand, M. & Öquist, G. 1985. Inhibition of photosynthesis by freezing temperatures and high light levels in cold-acclimated seedlings of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*). - II. Effects on chlorophyll fluorescence at room temperature and 77 K. Physiol. Plant. 65: 117-123.
- O'Reilly, C. & Owens, J.N. 1987. Long-shoot bud development, shoot

growth, and foliage production in provenances of lodgepole pine. Can. J. For. Res. 17:1421-1433.

- O'Reilly, C., Owens, J.N. & Arnott, J.T. 1989. Bud development in container grown western hemlock seedling subjected to different dormancy induction treatments. Forestry Supplement, 62: 169-179.
- Oribe, Y. & Kubo, T. 1997. Effect of heat on cambial reactivation during winter dormancy in evergreen and deciduous conifers. Tree Physiol. 17: 81-87.
- Oribe, Y. Kubo, T. & Fushitani, M. 1993. Variations of cambial reactivation within stems in deciduous and evergreen conifers. Ann. Bot. 35:133-141. (In Japanese) (Cited from Oribe & Kubo, 1997)
- Owens, J.N. & Simpson, D. 1988. Bud and shoot development in *Picea engelmannii* in response to cone induction treatments. Can. J. For. Res. 18: 231-241.
- Owens, J.N. 1968. Initiation and development of leaves in Douglas fir. Can. J. Bot. 46: 271-278.
- Owens, J.N. & Molder, M. 1973. A study of DNA and mitotic activity in the vegetative apex of Douglas fir during the annual growth cycle. Can. J. Bot 51: 1395-1409.
- Owens, J.N., Molder, M. & Langer, H. 1977. Bud development in *Picea glauca*. I. Annual growth cycle of vegetative buds and shoot elongation as they relate to date and temperature sums. Can. J. Bot 55: 2728-2745.
- Owens, J.N., Webber, J.E., Ross, S.D. & Pharis, R.P. 1985. Interaction between gibberellin A_{4/7} and root

pruning on the reproductive and vegetative processes in Douglas-fir. III. Effects on anatomy of shoot elongation and terminal bud development. Can. J. For. Res. 15: 354-364.

- Parke, R.V. 1959. Growth periodicity and the shoot tip of *Abies concolor*. Am. J. Bot. 46:110-118.
- Partanen, J., Koski, V. & Hänninen, H. 1998. Effects of photoperiod and temperatures on the timing of bud burst in Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). Tree Physiol. 18: 811-816.
- Perkins, T.D. & Adams, G.T. 1995. Rapid freezing induces winter injury symptomatology in red spruce foliage. Tree Physiol. 15: 259-266.
- Perkins, T.D., Adams, G.T. & Klein R.M. 1991. Desiccation or freezing? Mechanisms of winter injury to red spruce foliage. Am. J. Bot. 78:1207-1217.
- Pollard, D.F.W. & Logan K.T. 1974. The role of free growth in the differentaition of provenances of Black Spruce *Picea mariana* (Mill.) B.S.P.
- Pollard, D.F.W., Teich, A.H. & Logan, K.T. 1975. Seedling shoot and bud development in provenances of Sitka spruce, *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr. Can. J. For. Res. 5. 18-25.
- Pulkkinen, P. 1993. Frost hardiness development and lignification of young Norway spruce seedlings of southern and northern Finnish origin. Silva Fennica 27: 47-54.
- Repo, T. 1992. Seasonal changes of frost hardiness in *Picea abies* and *Pinus sylvestris* in Finland. Can. J. For. Res. 22: 1949-1957.
- Romberger, J.A. 1963. Meristems, growth and development in woody

plants U.S.D.A. For. Serv. Tech. Bull. 1293.

- Rosvall, O. & Ericsson, T. 1981. Transfer effects of *Picea abies* in northern Sweden. In Föreningen Skogsträdförädling och Institutet för skogsförbättring, Uppsala. Årsbok 1981, pp 85-115. (In Swedish with English summary.)
- Sakai, A & Larcher, W. 1987. Frost survival of plants. Ecological studies 62. Springer-Verlag, ISBN 3-540-17332-3, pp. 321.
- Sarvas, R. 1972. Investigations on the annual cycle of development of forest trees. Active period. Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae 76, 110 pp.
- Savidge, R.A. & Wareing, P.F. 1981.
 Plant growth regulators and the differentiation of vascular elements. *In*Xylem Cell Development. Ed. J.R.
 Barnett. Castle House Publications
 Ltd., London, pp 192-235.
- Savidge, R.A. & Wareing, P.F. 1984. Seasonal cambial activity and xylem development in *Pinus contorta* in relation to endogenous indol-3-ylacetic and (s)-abscisic acid levels. Can. J. For. Res. 14: 676-682.
- Schmidt-Vogt, H. 1977, Die Fichte -Ein handbuch in zwei Bänden, I. Taxonomie Verbreitung Morphologie Ökologie Waldgesellschaften, Verlag Paul Parey, Hamburg and Berlin, Germany. ISBN 3-490-08216-8. pp. 647 (In German).
- Skrøppa, T. & Johnsen, Ø. 1999. Field results with off-spring from translocated Norway spruce seed orchards. *In*: Climatic adaptation of boreal tree species - tree breeding in the nordic countries. Proceedings from the

1998 joint meeting of the Nordic Group for the Management of Genetic Resources of Trees and Nordic Arboretum Council. T. Skrøppa (ed.). Biri, Norway, June 25-27, 1998.

- Skrøppa, T. & Magnussen, S. 1993. Provenance variation in shoot growth components of Norway spruce. Silva Genetica 42, 2-3, 111-120.
- Skrøppa, T. 1988. The seed weight did not affect first years bud-set in *Picea abies*. Scand. J. For. Res. 3: 437-439.
- Skrøppa, T. 1991. Within-population varation in autumn frost hardiness and its relationship to bud set and height growth in *Picea abies*. Scand. J. For. Res. 6: 353-363.
- Smith, H. 1995. Physiological and ecological function within the phytochrome family. Annu. Rev. Plant. Physiol. Plant. Mol. Bol. 46:289-315.
- Steeves, T.A. & Sussex, I.M. 1989.
 Patterns in plant development, 2nd ed., Cambridge University Press, New York, USA. 388 pp. ISBN 0 521 28895 9.
- Steudle, E. & Henzler, T. 1995. Water channels in plants – do basic concepts of water transport change. J. Exp. Bot. 46: 1067-1076.
- Steponkus, P.L. 1984. Role of the plasma membrane in freezing injury and cold acclimation. Annu. Rev. Plant. Physol. 35: 543-584.
- Strimbeck, G.R, Johnson, A.H. & Vann, D.R. 1993. Midwinter needle temperature and winter injury of

montane red spruce. Tree. Physiol. 13:131-144.

- Strimbeck, G.R., Schaberg, P.G., De-Hayes, D.H., Shane, J.B. & Hawley, G.J. 1995. Midwinter dehardening of montane red spruce during a natural thaw. Can. J. For. Res. 25: 2040-2044.
- Sundberg, B., Uggla, C. & Tuominen, H. 2000. Cambial growth and auxin gradients. *In* Cell and molecular biology of wood formation, (Eds.) Savidge, R., Barnett, J. & Napier, R. (In press).
- Tranquillini,W. 1979. Physiological ecology of the alpine timberline. Ecol. Stud. No. 31. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg New York. 137 p. ISBN 3-540-09065-7.
- Uggla, C., Mellerowicz, E.J. & Sundberg, B. 1998. Indole-3acetic acid controls cambial growth in Scots pine by positional signaling. Plant Physiol. 117: 113-121.
- Ununger, J. & Kang, H. 1988. Estimated bud development period in *Picea abies*. Scan. J. For. Res. 3: 47-53.
- Vanhinsberg, N. B. & Colombo, S.J. 1990. Effect of temperature on needle anatomy and transpiration of *Picea mariana* after bud initation. Can. J. For. Res 20:598-601.
- Weiser, C. J. 1970. Cold resistance and injury in woody plants, Science 169: 1269-1278.
- Venn, K. & Chowdhry, U. 1976. Winter vigour in *Picea abies* (L.) Karst. III. Development of the Nodal Diaphragm in Seedlings during Autumn in Norway. Reports of the

Norwegian Forest Research Institute. ISBN 82-7169-048-5, 32: 377-388.

- Williams, H.M. & South, D.B. 1992. Effects of fall fertilizer applications on mitotic index and bud dormancy of Loblolly pine seedlings. For. Sci. 38: 336-449.
- von Wühlisch, G. & Muhs, H.-J. 1986. Influence of Age on Sylleptic and Proleptic Free Growth of Norway Spruce Seedlings, Silva Genetica 35: 42-48.
- von Wühlisch, G. & Muhs, H.-J. 1991. Environmental Influences on Juvenile Shoot Growth in *Picea abies*. Scan. J. For. Res. 6: 479-498.
- Worall, J. 1975. Provenance and clonal variation in phenology and wood properties of Norway spruce. Silva Genetica 24: 2-5.
- Yelenosky, G. & Horanic, G. 1969. Subcooling in wood of citrus seedlings, Cryobiology 5: 281-283.
- Zimmermann, M. 1964. The effect of low temperature on ascent of sap in the trees. Plant. Physiol. 39:568-572.

Acknowledgements

The studies presented here are part of the Norway spruce tree improvement program at SkogForsk. They are also a part of my never-ending personal education, but without the support from numerous other persons I would never have completed a thesis. I'm obliged to a lot of people, but of coarse a few people have contributed a bit more than others.

My supervisors, Jan-Erik Hällgren, and Lars-Göran Sundblad, have meant a lot to me. Of course, they were always on their way from something to something else, but most of the time they had time for my work. I was told that Jan-Erik is often double (or even triple) booked, but he turned out to be a most encouraging and supporting supervisor. I must also acknowledge Lars-Göran "Pettsson" Sundblad, not only for his talent of seeing the impossible, but also for his ability to see the main point. With their help the manuscripts were considerably improved from the scanty original versions. I learned a lot, although I still have a lot to learn I believe.

Co-writers Martin Strand and Mats Hannerz complemented my supervisors well, as they tend to keep their feet on the ground in most cases.

The assistance at SkogForsk was as usual great. Originally Ola Rosvall set the focus for my work and also gave a push to start my PhD education. Special thanks also go to Bengt Andersson, Laila Andersson, Ingemar Bäckström, Tore Ericsson, Jörgen Hajek, Gunnar Jansson, Monica Lundström, Margareta Nilsson, Ann Salomonsson and Lotta Samuelsson at SkogForsk for their contributions.

John Blackwell improved the English, quickly and reliably.

Elena Salo helped me with the climate chamber experiment and Bengt-Olov Wigren helped me with needle collections at Flakaliden and the transportation.

I greatly appreciate the personal grant from the Kempe foundation, which made it possible for me to concentrate on my studies. The work was also supported by the Swedish Tree Breeding Association, the Swedish Council for Forestry and Agricultural Research and of coarse by SkogForsk.

Yes, mother I said some years ago that I would not take on a doctorate and at the same time small children....

Lastly, I want to thank my family, Ingrid, Hugo and Olle for love, support and patience. They distracted my thoughts away from my studies, which I also needed, even though I may not always have admitted it.

I thank you all!